

# Virginia Commonwealth University **VCU Scholars Compass**

Theses and Dissertations

**Graduate School** 

1987

# The effect of a cardiovascular risk factor education program on health behaviors of selected school age children

Terry M. Tuck

Sharon K. Williams

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd



Part of the Nursing Commons

© The Author

# Downloaded from

https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/5608

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

# School of Nursing Virginia Commonwealth University

This is to certify that the thesis prepared by Terry M. Tuck and Sharon K. Williams entitled The Effect of a Cardiovascular Risk

Factor Education Program on Health Behaviors of Selected School

Age Children has been approved by their committee as satisfactory completion of the thesis requirement for the degree of Master of Science.

| Director of Thesis                |
|-----------------------------------|
|                                   |
| Committee Member                  |
|                                   |
| Committee Member //               |
|                                   |
| School Director of Graduate Study |
|                                   |
| Départment Chairman               |
|                                   |
|                                   |
| School Dean                       |
| Date                              |

# THE EFFECT OF A CARDIOVASCULAR RISK FACTOR EDUCATION PROGRAM ON HEALTH BEHAVIORS OF SELECTED SCHOOL AGE CHILDREN

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science at Virginia Commonwealth University

by

Terry M. Tuck B.S.N., Medical College of Virginia, 1980

Sharon K. Williams B.S.N., Mercy College of Detroit, 1973

Director: Dr. Marya Olgas
Associate Professor of Nursing
Medical-Surgical Nursing

Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia May, 1987

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

We would like to express our sincere appreciation to the members of our committee for their assistance and guidance in the preparation of this thesis:

Marya Olgas, R.N., Ph.D. Associate Professor, Medical-Surgical Nursing School of Nursing, Medical College of Virginia Virginia Commonwealth University

Doris W. Busby, Ed.D. Associate Professor School of Education Virginia Commonwealth University

Jeanette Jones, R.N., M.S. Assistant Professor, Community Health Nursing School of Nursing, Medical College of Virginia Virginia Commonwealth University

Additionally, we would like to acknowledge, with gratitude, the assistance of the following persons:

Mrs. Ruth Arnold

Dr. Clementine Pollok

Mrs. Judith Ransom

Mrs. Jane Elliott

Finally, we would like to acknowledge, with love, our husbands Michael and James and our children for the infinite understanding and support provided to us throughout the development of this thesis.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

|        | 1   | Page |
|--------|---|------|
| LIST O | F TABLES                                      | v    |
| ABSTRA | ст  | vi   |
| Chapte | r   |      |
|        |   |      |
| 1.     | THE PROBLEM                                   | 1    |
|        | Introduction                                  | 1    |
|        | Purpose of Study                              | 3    |
|        | Problem                                       | 3    |
|        | Definition of Terms                           | 3    |
|        | Delimitations                                 | 4    |
|        | Assumptions                                   | 5    |
| 0      | Theoretical Rationale                         | 5    |
|        | Hypothesis                                    | 7    |
|        | Significance of Study to Nursing              | 7    |
|        | organization of outly to heroring             | •    |
| 2.     | LITERATURE REVIEW                             | 8    |
|        | Coronary Artery Disease                       | 8    |
|        | Cardiovascular Risk Factors                   | 9    |
|        | Atherosclerosis As a Pediatric Problem        | 12   |
|        | Cardiovascular Health Education Programs for  | 21   |
|        | Children                                      | 21   |
|        | The Role Of the School In Cardiovascular Risk |      |
|        | Factor Education                              | 26   |
|        | Health Education                              | 29   |
|        | Nurse's Role in Health Promotion              | 32   |
|        | Summary                                       | 34   |
| 3.     | METHODOLOGY                                   | 35   |
|        | Selection of Sample                           | 35   |
|        | Selection of Instrument                       | 37   |
|        | Deliability and Validity                      | 38   |
|        | Reliability and Validity                      | 38   |
|        | Scoring                                       |      |
|        | Data Collection                               | 39   |
| 4.     | ANALYSIS OF DATA                              | 42   |
|        | Introduction                                  | 42   |
|        | Discussion                                    | 43   |

|        |  | Page |
|--------|--|------|
| 5.     | SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS AND             |      |
|        | RECOMMENDATIONS                                    | 47   |
|        | Summary and Conclusions                            | 47   |
|        | Conclusions  | 48   |
|        | Implications                                       | 48   |
|        | Recommendations for Further Study                  | 49   |
| REFERE | NCES   | 50   |
| APPEND | ICES   |      |
| Α.     | "MY HEALTH BEHAVIORS"                              | 61   |
| В.     | LETTERS REQUESTING PERMISSION FOR PARTICIPATION IN |      |
|        | 'HEALTH BEHAVIORS' PROJECT                         | 64   |
| С.     | AGENCY CONSENT                                     | 66   |
| D.     | INFORMED CONSENT FOR EXPERIMENTAL GROUP            | 67   |
| E.     | INFORMED CONSENT FOR CONTROL GROUP                 | 69   |
| F.     | TOPICAL OUTLINE FOR EXPERIMENTAL GROUP             | 71   |
| G.     | TOPICAL OUTLINE FOR CONTROL GROUP                  | 73   |
| VITA   |  | 74   |

# LIST OF TABLES

| Table |   | Page |
|-------|---|------|
| 1.    | Sex and Race Distribution of Subjects by Study Group              | 36   |
| 2.    | Age Distribution of Subjects by Study Group                       | 37   |
| 3.    | Comparison of Session Content for Experimental and Control Groups | 41   |
| 4.    | Comparison of Test Scores Between Experimental and Control Groups | 43   |

#### **ABSTRACT**

THE EFFECT OF A CARDIOVASCULAR RISK FACTOR PROGRAM ON HEALTH BEHAVIORS OF SELECTED SCHOOL AGE CHILDREN

Terry M. Tuck, R.N., B.S.N. Sharon K. Williams, R.N., B.S.N.

Medical College of Virginia, Virginia Commonwealth University, 1987 Major Director: Marya Olgas, R.N., Ph.D.

This study, using a quasi-experimental design, was conducted to explore the effect of a cardiovascular risk factor education program on the health behaviors of a group of fifth grade children. The following hypothesis was tested:

There will be a statistically significant improvement in self-reported health behaviors of school age children who receive a cardiovascular risk factor education program as compared to the self-reported health behaviors of those school age children who do not receive a cardiovascular risk factor education program.

One hundred and nineteen subjects, 63 in the experimental group and 56 in the control group, were tested using the researcher's designed health behavior questionnaire, "My Health Behaviors", before and after participation in the health education program. The program provided for the experimental group consisted of eight 45 minute sessions. The introductory and summary sessions were primarily concerned with administration of the pretest and post-test

and sessions two through seven were informative sessions about high fat, high cholesterol diet, smoking and sedentary lifestyle. The program provided for the control group consisted of four 45 minute sessions; session one was concerned with introductory material and administration of the pre-test, sessions two and three were informative sessions related to general nutrition and foods high in salt and sugar, and session four was devoted to review of content as well as administration of the post-test.

Data were statistically analyzed using the paired-sample student's  $\underline{t}$ -test. Results of the analysis revealed a significant difference between the two sample groups at  $\underline{p} < 0.01$  level. The hypothesis was accepted.

#### CHAPTER I

#### THE PROBLEM

## Introduction

Morbidity and mortality related to atherosclerotic heart disease have reached epidemic levels in the United States, causing an estimated 54.8 percent of the total deaths in 1987 (Heart Facts, 1987). The etiology of atherosclerotic heart disease is not completely understood, but is believed to be accelerated by the presence of certain risk factors such as cigarette smoking and high cholesterol dietary intake (Wolfgang, 1981). Duncan et al. (1983) support the premise that poor physical fitness also increases the risk of cardiovascular disease.

Heart disease has most often been considered a disease of the elderly. Several studies (Holman, 1961; Kannel and Dawber, 1972; Strong, 1976), however, have indicated that the precursor of atherosclerotic heart disease begins in childhood. Autopsies of Korean and Vietnamese war casualties studied by Enos et al. (1971) and McNamara (1971) revealed advanced atherosclerotic conditions in subjects with a mean age of twenty-two years.

Wolfgang and Dennison (1982) stated that since the disease process begins much earlier than the disease manifests itself, investigation of risk factors in youth was important.

Two groups of factors have been identified as correlates of increased risk for developing atherosclerotic disease. The first group consists of those factors (such as age and heredity) that are beyond the individual's control. The second group are of behavioral origin. The behavioral precursors of cardiovascular disease include smoking and high fat and cholesterol dietary intake and are of utmost importance because of the possibility of modification (Wolfgang and Dennison, 1982). Lack of physical exercise is another risk factor that can be behaviorally modified. Way (1981) supports introducing regular physical fitness activities early in childhood to encourage children to assume responsibility for their own fitness throughout their lifetime.

During the last ten years in the United States, the incidence of heart attacks has decreased. As a result of a review of research literature, Holcomb et al. (1981) surmised that this decline is at least partially due to personal changes in behavior, such as reduction in smoking, dietary changes to reduce cholesterol and fat intake, and an increased interest in exercise.

A conclusion may be drawn based on results of the studies previously noted. Because of the early onset and latency of the atherosclerotic disease process, it is vital to institute positive health behaviors early in life, before lifetime habits have been established. Coates et al. (1981) stated that changing children's health habits may be a key element in promoting widespread adoption

of a healthier lifestyle that could lead to a reduction of cardiovascular risk behavior and disease in the overall population.

## Purpose of Study

The purpose of this study is to determine if a selected group of school age children will modify their health behaviors following an educational program.

### Problem

Do school age children who receive cardiovascular risk factor education modify their health behaviors and develop a healthier lifestyle?

## Definition of Terms

Throughout this study the following definitions will be used:

Health - that state of body and mind functioning which affords
man the ability to strive towards his functional objectives and his
culturally desired goals (Balog, 1981).

Health behaviors - those practices that have an effect on an individual's state of health.

a. Negative health behaviors - those practices that threaten the present state of health. For the purpose of this study, they will be operationally defined as: smoking, ingestion of a high fat, high cholesterol diet and lack of regular aerobic exercise.

b. Positive health behaviors - those practices that enhance the present state of health. For the purpose of this study, they will be operationally defined as: avoidance of smoking, ingestion of a low fat, low cholesterol diet, and regular aerobic exercise.

Health education - instruction provided to assist the individual to choose a pattern of living that enhances the well-being of his body and mind. For the purpose of this study, it will be operationally defined as: the content of the eight teaching sessions that will be taught.

Risk factors - "an attribute or exposure that increases the probability of occurrence of disease ..." (Valanis, 1986, p. 436). For the purpose of this study, they will be operationally defined as the negative health behaviors stated above.

School age child - a child who is enrolled in the fifth grade in elementary school.

## Delimitations

- 1. The subjects selected for this study will be from a public school rather than a private school to obtain a sample more reflective of the general population.
- 2. The subjects will be of normal or higher intelligence in order to control for the level at which the health education programs will be presented.

# Assumptions

- 1. Behavior can be modified.
- A pretest and post-test can measure modifications in a person's health behaviors.
- 3. School age children can make decisions that promote positive health behaviors.
  - 4. Learning will take place.
  - 5. The subjects will answer the test questions truthfully.

# Theoretical Rationale

Self-care implies that people can and should take responsibility for their own health (Blazek and McClellan, 1983, p. 554).

Orem (1980, p. 35) stated that self-care is "the practice of activities that individuals initiate and perform on their own behalf in maintaining life, health, and well-being". Further, she stated that "self-care is developed in day-to-day living, and is aided by intellectual curiosity, by instruction, by supervision from others, and by experience in performing self-care measures" (Orem, 1980, p. 37). The way an individual meets his self-care needs is not instinctual, but is a learned behavior.

"Orem presents health based on the concept of preventive health care. ... It includes the promotion and maintenance of health (primary prevention), the treatment of disease (secondary prevention), and the prevention of complications (tertiary

prevention) (George, 1985, p. 130). Nursing promotes preventive health care in the individual by providing education regarding self-care needs in order to maintain health and sustain life.

Adults voluntarily care for themselves. Children, however, require assistance with self-care activities and must be taught appropriate health care practices. This is accomplished through education and practice of positive health behaviors (Orem, 1980).

Social learning theory, as developed by Rotter and Bandura, provides a theoretical framework which "attempts to incorporate cognitive, affective, behavioral and social dimensions into a cohesive theory of learning" (Parcel, 1983, p. 40). This theory has been used as the theoretical basis for school health education programs by McAlister (1980), Evans (1979), Hurd (1980), Nadar et al. (1983) and other researchers. The social learning theory utilizes three basic components in the measurement and prediction of behavior. According to social learning theory, behavior is always directional. In other words, an individual responds with those behaviors that he has learned will lead to the greatest satisfaction in a given situation (Rotter, 1964). The translation of theory into practice through education makes social learning theory a particularly attractive theoretical model for school health education (Parcel, 1983).

# Hypothesis

There will be a statistically significant improvement in self-reported health behaviors of school age children who receive a cardiovascular risk factor education program as compared to the self-reported health behaviors of those school age children who do not receive a cardiovascular risk factor education program.

# Significance of Study to Nursing

A large percentage of today's population is affected by cardiovascular disease. There has been limited documentation that children can be educated to make positive health choices regarding dietary intake, physical fitness, and avoidance or control of cigarette smoking in order to decrease the incidence of cardiovascular disease.

One of nursing's responsibilities is to assist children to learn positive health practices in order to be better able to assume self care as adults. This can be accomplished through a variety of educational programs and practice of positive health behaviors that promote the health of the individual. Data from this study will provide community health and school nurses with additional information regarding their approach to provide health education to children.

#### CHAPTER II

#### Literature Review

### Coronary Artery Disease

"Coronary artery disease is near epidemic in the Western World" (Cardiovascular Disorder, 1984:89). Even with the recent strides in treating the severe forms of coronary artery disease, it still remains a challenge to both health personnel and laymen. Coronary artery disease is an umbrella term used for various diseases that reduce or halt blood flow through the coronary arteries (Cardiovascular Disorders, 1984). It takes more lives than any other disease.

Atherosclerosis of the coronary arteries is the leading cause of coronary artery disease in the United States (Bullock and Rosendahl, 1984). There are many theories of the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, however, most agree that the process begins early in life and progresses over a period of years. According to Bullock and Rosendahl (1984:246)

The initial change in the arteries is seen early in life and consists of a fatty streak that may develop into a fibrous plaque. This atheromatous plaque becomes elevated inside the artery and partially occludes the lumen of the artery. The cores of the atheromatous plaques become necrotic and hemorrhage, and calcification may result. Thrombosis on or around the plaque may occur, partially or completely occluding the lumen of the vessel.

These atherosclerotic lesions don't usually cause symptoms until the atherosclerotic process is well advanced. There can be a latent period of 20 to 40 years before symptoms occur. As the plaque formation enlarges, the coronary artery lumen narrows, causing resistence to blood flow through the artery. The result is compromised myocardial blood supply. This leads to decreased myocardial oxygenation and ischemia of the cardiac muscle. Angina pectoris results and with prolonged ischemia, necrosis of the myocardium can occur (Bullock and Rosendahl, 1986).

# Cardiovascular Risk Factors

Although the cause of atherosclerosis remains unknown, multiple risk factors are associated with the development of atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease. The American Heart Association has identified high fat, high cholesterol diets (resulting in elevated blood lipid levels), obesity, smoking, hypertension and a sedentary lifestyle as important risk factors that lead to the development of cardiovascular disease (Sunseri et al., 1984). Thompson et al. (1986) add an age of 35 to 60 years and having a type A personality to the list of risk factors. All of these factors can make a person more prone to developing atherosclerosis by producing either a lipoprotein abnormality, arterial wall injury, or platelet dysfunction (Cardiovascular Disorders, 1984).

# High Fat, High Cholesterol Diet

Hyperlipidemia is directly related to the development of atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease. Diet plays an important role in governing the blood levels of cholesterol, lipoproteins and triglycerides. There is a direct correlation between a person's intake of fat and his blood levels. With increased fat and cholesterol intake, serum levels of cholesterol, triglycerides and low density lipoproteins increase. Likewise, when a person limits his/her intake of fats and cholesterol, serum levels fall.

Elevated serum levels of fats and cholesterol cause atherosclerotic buildup along the intima of the arteries. As these lesions further develop, they occlude the arteries, especially the coronary arteries, and lead to the development of coronary heart disease as well as other cardiovascular diseases. The fact that a high fat, high cholesterol diet is easy to change makes this an important risk factor to focus on.

#### Obesity

Obesity is a less clearly defined cardiovascular risk factor, but is associated with hypertension and hyperlipidemia. There is a direct correlation between increased fat intake and obesity which tends to increase the heart's workload leading to hypertension, which in turn can also result in coronary heart disease.

## Cigarette Smoking

The relationship between cigarette smoking and the development of coronary heart disease has long been established. Andreoli (1979) cited statistical evidence that supports a mean increase of about 70 percent in the death rate from coronary artery disease in middle-aged men who smoke one pack of cigarettes a day as compared to their non-smoking counterparts. "Cigarette smoking is the single most important preventable cause of death ..."

(Healthy People, 1979:7). In the same report it is noted that smoking, even in the absence of other important risk factors, nearly doubles the risk of heart attack. Because of these conclusions, emphasis has been placed on educating the public regarding the potential risks associated with smoking.

### Sedentary Lifestyle

American life has become increasingly sedentary. Most people drive or ride to work and work itself, for much of the work force, involves relatively little activity. Even in recreation, people are more often spectators rather than participants. This relative lack of physical activity has led to a decline in physical fitness in children and adults (Healthy People, 1979).

"Poor physical fitness increases the risk of developing cardiovascular disease and is also associated with elevated serum lipids, hypertension and obesity" (Duncan et al., 1983:469). High

cholesterol levels are directly related to coronary artery disease. Research (Lauer et al., 1975; Duncan et al., 1983) has shown that physical exercise has resulted in a moderate decrease in blood cholesterol levels. More importantly, physical exercise has resulted in increased levels of high density lipoproteins and decreased levels of low density lipoproteins, which have been associated with a decreased risk of coronary heart disease. Physical exercise is a deterrent to obesity, which also is a risk factor for developing coronary heart disease.

### Atherosclerosis As a Pediatric Problem

Atherosclerosis begins early in life (Holman, 1961; Kannel and Dawber, 1972; Strong, 1976) and progresses at a variable rate which is probably dependent on various intrinsic and environmental factors such as lifestyle associated with coronary risk factors. Strong (1976:66) stated:

Fatty streaks of atherosclerosis are present in the aorta of virtually all children, regardless of geographic location or diet. ... During the second decade of life, the fatty streaks increase in number and size and first become evident in the coronary arteries.

Kannel and Dawber (1972) report evidence of fatty streaks in children by age three to five years. Although there are no longitudinal study data documenting the progression of the fatty streaks to fibrous atherosclerotic plaques, there are studies

(Lauer et al., 1975; Blumenthal et al., 1975; Enos et al., 1973; McNamara et al., 1971) that show evidence of atherosclerosis in early adulthood supporting the conclusion that fatty streaks do progress to atherosclerosis later in life. Kannel and Dawber (1972) believe that if this progression of fatty streaks to atherosclerotic plaques could be slowed, then atherosclerotic heart disease would not be a major cause of death in later life. This consideration supports the seriousness of atherosclerosis as a pediatric problem.

Other researchers (Moller, 1982; Immarino et al., 1980; Wolfgang and Dennison, 1982; Walter and Donnelly, 1985; and Boyer, 1984) agree that the problem of cardiovascular disease is not solely a problem of the adult population. They concur with Strong's and Kannel and Dawber's conclusions that the atherosclerotic process actually begins in childhood and progresses during adolescence and young adulthood even though serious clinical manifestations do not appear until middle age or later. They also support the need for early intervention in order to prevent blatent coronary artery disease later in life.

Blumenthal et al. (1975) provide evidence that children possess several cardiovascular disease risk factors (elevated cholesterol levels, obesity) and that not only may they lead sedentary lifestyles but also smoke, especially if their parents have manifestations of coronary artery disease. These risk

factors although commonly associated with adults, are often based on habits established during childhood. They too emphasize the importance of altering negative health behaviors related to risk factors before signs of coronary artery disease become apparent. Strong (1976), Boyer (1974), Lauer et al. (1975), Kannel and Dawber (1972) also believe that it is imperative that lifestyle modifications begin early in life, i.e. childhood, to successfully prevent the development of heart disease. It is absurd to allow children to develop habits which lead to such a deadly disease and then be urged to alter these habits later in life. If a child learns positive health behaviors during childhood, it is very likely that he/she will continue to practice such behaviors later in life. The American Heart Association believes that modification of "adult risk factors" in children may influence the establishment of favorable habits that will extend into adulthood and have a positive effect on reducing the risk of developing atherosclerosis. Physicians also agree that a more effective way to prevent coronary heart disease later in life is to concentrate on known preventive measures early in life before coronary heart disease becomes established (Way, 1981). Research has shown that beginning risk factor modification measures late in life, after the precursors of atherosclerosis have been present for years and the atherosclerotic lesions are far advanced simply are not as effective (Kannel et al., 1976). Programs which encourage lifestyle habits conducive to

maintaining good cardiovascular health are more beneficial when introduced at younger ages because they condition behavior for later in life.

The American Academy of Pediatrics strongly support the concept of school health education, from kindergarten through grade twelve, for all children in the United States. It believes that a basic concept of pediatric practice is prevention, and that health education is a basic element of disease prevention (Cook, 1978). As has been stated, cardiovascular disease can be prevented easily by modification of risk factors. All children deserve to know how they can live a healthier life.

Most people's dietary habits are formed early in life. If children are accustomed to eating high fat foods, they will continue this practice later in life. However, if children are accustomed to eating low fat foods, chances are they will continue this practice later in life. The end result would be less atherosclerotic buildup inside the adult's coronary arteries and less chance of developing coronary heart disease later in life. It is crucial to reach children at an early age in hopes of preventing such a deadly disease later in life.

A variety of studies (0'Rourke et al., 1985; Shute et al., 1981; Andrews and Hearne, 1984; Schinke and Gilchrist, 1983; Sunseri et al., 1983; Botvin and Eng, 1980; Nolte et al., 1983;

Allendorff et al., 1985) have studied children from pre-school through grade 12.

Shute et al. (1981) concluded that for children three to eight years of age, who made up their study group, knowing "someone" who smokes cigarettes is significantly related to a desire to smoke. They noted that the effect was especially strong for pre-school children. A second conclusion was that over 80 percent of the children studied, who had tried smoking, 25.5 percent reported a strong desire to smoke in the future. A third conclusion drawn from their study indicated that of children who were not exposed to tobacco at home, almost 90 percent stated that they would not smoke in the future. Shute et al. stated that just as children model smoking parents they also model non-smoking parents.

What of children of smoking parents? Andrews and Hearne (1984) in a longitudinal study investigated health attitudes of children beginning in kindergarten through third grade. Six hundred kindergarten children were assigned to either an experimental or control group. Two hundred and eighty-four children were in the experimental group and received the Primary Grades health curriculum. Three hundred and sixteen children were in the control group and received textbook health curriculum. Data collected at the end of the third grade demonstrated that the experimental group possessed more positive attitudes about health and less engagement in cigarette smoking. It also was noted that

a significant number of parents of experimental group children (16.5%) and 11 percent of the control group parents reported that they had stopped smoking since their children started the program. Andrews and Hearne stated that this difference was greater than could be expected by chance (p-.02). These data seem to indicate that parents also benefit from health education programs designed for their children. This same benefit was noted in another study (Sunseri et al., 1983).

Other studies were designed to increase health knowledge regarding the negative affects of smoking and to promote positive health behaviors. Schinkle and Gilchrist (1983) studied 56 sixth grade students. The experimental group was exposed to eight sessions related to health, problem solving and decision making skills to help them abstain from tobacco use. They were compared to untrained controls. The researchers concluded that students in the experimental group had a stronger commitment to tobacco abstinence and more frequent refusals of tobacco. Allendorff et al. (1985) studied the relationship between knowledge related to heart health, smoking attitudes and self-esteem. Thirty-seven sixth grade teachers, with their students were randomly assigned to experimental and control groups. The experimental group was comprised of 18 teachers and 430 students; the remaining 19 teachers and 460 students comprised the control group. A pre-test was administered to all subjects. Five curricular modules were

taught, in three 45 minute sessions each week for five weeks, to the experimental group. Following completion of the curricular modules both groups were post-tested. Allendorff et al. concluded that the program had an impact on student's health knowledge and that independence from peer pressure significantly influenced student attitudes and self-esteem.

O'Rourke et al. (1985) conducted a study of school age children in grades seven through 12. The study was designed to provide a profile of the ex-smoker as compared to his smoking and never smoking counterpart. Data were collected from 5,393 subjects. They were asked to identify smoking behaviors of close friends who smoke, parents who smoke, best friends upset about smoking and parents upset about smoking. Responses of subjects in each of the three groups were then divided according to grade level. The total number of subjects, per grade, were then compared according to positive responses on the smoking behavior tool. Results indicated that the ex-smoker had a significantly different profile than smokers and never-smokers. Data analysis revealed that the ex-smokers more closely resembled never-smokers. Data also indicated that ex-smokers consistently had a higher percentage of positive responses on the smoking behavior tool than never-smokers and a lower percentage of positive responses than smokers. O'Rourke et al. contended that these data provide insight "into the ex-smoker's group which may be useful to those involved in anti-smoking efforts

be they focused on prevention or cessation" (O'Rourke et al., 1985:21).

Children are generally considered to be physically active.

Surprisingly, however, relatively few high school and even fewer elementary school age children participate in regular physical exercise programs (Duncan et al., 1983). Most schools and adults tend to assume that physical fitness conditioning in children results from their daily routine. Hovell et al. (1978) concluded that children's voluntary activity levels during recess were insufficient to increase cardio-respiratory fitness and reduce the risk of developing cardiovascular disease. According to Duncan et al. (1983) children who participated in regular physical fitness programs during recess initially complained because they preferred more sedentary activities. As they became adjusted to the program, however, their general demeanor changed. They became more alert, more enthusiastic in the classroom and more active during recess periods.

Regular physical exercise has been identified as an important preventive factor of cardiovascular disease. It is important to build a routine of physical exercise into a person's lifestyle at a young age. Children need guidance in understanding which exercises are important and the benefits of maintaining physical fitness throughout their lives. School age children can take the responsibility for their own physical fitness and learn heart

healthy activities that they can continue throughout their lives.

If benefits of exercise are taught early, the children may be more likely to continue these activities into adult life.

Several programs (Project Superheart, The Chicago Heart
Health Curriculum Program, Know Your Body) have shown that children
are able to modify their lifestyle habits and are able to understand ways to keep their hearts healthy. There are, however, no
longitudinal study data about children's cardiovascular risk modification available at this time. Because of the daily routine and
contact with children, schools are considered to be excellent
settings in which to provide information and guidance for making
lifestyle changes conducive to good cardiovascular health for the
general youth population.

The researchers for this study chose high fat, high cholesterol diet, smoking and sedentary lifestyle as the most important risk factors affecting the development of atherosclerosis in children. A large percentage of school children have already adopted related detrimental lifestyle habits. Rather than wait until the disease is obvious, it is better to prevent these unhealthy practices from occurring by educating the younger generation about atherosclerosis, coronary heart disease, and the risk factors associated with these conditions.

# Cardiovascular Health Education Programs for Children

There are numerous cardiovascular risk factor education programs that have been successfully implemented in schools. For example, Illinois, Michigan, New York, Kansas, Rhode Island and Minnesota have successful "heart health" programs that have been implemented for school age children from elementary through high school levels. The primary objectives of these programs are: 1) to provide education about cardiovascular disease and risk factors and 2) to encourage the participants to make "heart healthy" lifestyle choices, modify their personal behaviors and prevent the development of cardiovascular disease.

These federally funded programs have all been conducted in the public school system. The Minnesota program is particularly interesting because it provides risk factor education in both school and community settings. It attempts to reach children and adults, with particular focus on the family. All of the programs involve cognitive learning, consideration of personal feelings and values, and opportunities for the participants to make responsible decisions regarding their own health. Primary focus is on the elementary to middle school age populations, in an attempt to prevent the development of risk behaviors. Two programs, however, offer risk factor education to high school students as well as younger aged children.

The literature review revealed favorable results from all of the programs. Program evaluations demonstrated that cardiovascular risk factor education positively impacted the student participants primarily because increased knowledge of cardiovascular risks changed student preferences and decisions positively. In many instances the children took the knowledge home to share with their families. Various programs allowed for parent participation. For example, Project Superheart included evening gym activities for the families of participant children (Bellardini et al., 1980). As a result, the majority of the programs had an extended effect on those who were involved.

A brief description of some of the cardiovascular health education programs available in the United States follows:

1. Chicago Heart Health Curriculum Program: Chicago, Illinois

This program was designed to increase students' heart health knowledge related to primary risk factors of cardiovascular disease in order to develop positive attitudes about healthful living, and to encourage the adoption of heart health lifestyle behaviors. "The program consists of five heart health education modules: 1) "Special You", 2) "Foodwise", 3) "Movin", 4) "Keeping It Together", and 5) "Do You Mind If I Smoke", and is taught to upper elementary classes" (Creswell, 1982:26). This program is perhaps one of the more successful and is still functioning. The program emphasizes the freedom of choice and responsibility for

one's own actions. Teachers implement the program after receiving extensive training about cardiovascular concepts and facts.

## 2. Feelin Good: Spring Arbor, Michigan

This is a fitness and health education program for children, grades kindergarten through nine. It emphasizes the study of cardiovascular anatomy and physiology, and the effects of exercise, diet, stress, obesity, and smoking on the body (Creswell, 1982). It uses the following educational strategies: discovery activities, behavior modification, lectures and physical exercise activities. This program has been adopted by and is currently being implemented in several schools and Y.M.C.A.s throughout the United States.

3. Know Your Body: New York, New York

# 5. Know four body. New fork, New fork

This program was implemented in six New York City school districts in an attempt to prevent development of major chronic disease risk factors and to reduce elevated cardiovascular risk status. Due to its success, it is currently being replicated for 1400 Washington, D.C., black, urban children (Stone, 1985). Its focus is on cardiovascular risk factor prevention and is designed to assist elementary school age students in making healthy choices concerning nutrition, exercise, and substance abuse. The program consists of ten learning modules based on social learning, modeling, and self-responsibility (Immarino et al., 1980).

# 4. Project Superheart: Cortland, New York

This heart disease prevention program is for children age six through twelve years. The program's primary goal is "to provide cardiovascular health and fitness that begins when the child enters school" (Bellardini et al., 1980:11). It consists of a variety of physical education activities and a cardiovascular health education curriculum. The program emphasizes positive health attitudes to influence children to make healthy lifestyle choices that will continue throughout their life. The available literature cites that "Project Superheart" has significantly increased cardiovascular knowledge and impacted on physical fitness. The interesting fact about this program is that the teaching was done not only in the classroom, but also through role modeling and environmental engineering. The school and schedules were arranged in ways that were conducive to good health, such as including physical exercise sessions three times a week and providing nutritionally balanced lunches (Bellardini et al., 1980).

## 5. Project Panther: Youngstown, Ohio

Project Panther (Prevent and Neutralize Through Health Education Risk Reduction) was designed to reduce specific health risks, i.e., smoking, alcohol abuse, poor nutritional habits, lack of physical fitness and hypertension in school age children (Kittleson and Ragon, 1985). Directed toward fifth and sixth grade students, it fostered developing a positive self-esteem through activities

pertaining to self-awareness and decision-making skills. This program utilized several self-assessment tools, classroom teaching, decision-making, exercise and health related field trips. The project has been successful in reducing the students' risk factors, especially relative to smoking. Pre-test scores revealed that 12 percent of the fifth grade experimental group smoked and post-test scores revealed that the number of students who smoked decreased to less than five percent (Kittleson and Ragon, 1985). The Center for Disease Control formally recommended that Project Panther be classified as a model project worth duplicating.

### 6. Minnesota Heart Health Program: Minneapolis, Minnesota

The Minnesota Heart Health Program is a disease prevention community project whose primary goal is to significantly reduce morbidity and mortality due to cardiovascular disease by focusing on changing general lifestyle patterns (Creswell, 1982). The project is community based rather than school based and operates from a community setting. It provides personal risk factor screening as well as risk factor education to both adults and children. The schools host the program for school aged children. The program is being implemented as a longitudinal study (1980-1990) in three Minnesota communities. Presently, limited evaluations have revealed positive effects of the program on cardiovascular disease awareness and risk modification.

# The Role Of the School In Cardiovascular Risk Factor Education

Researchers (Kilbe and Newman, 1983; Moller, 1982; Creswell, 1982; Immarino et al., 1980; Schaller, 1977; Boyer, 1974) agree that cardiovascular disease education must begin early in life in order to effectively prevent the occurrence of and deaths from cardiovascular disease. Creswell (1982;25) stated:

Because it is generally assumed that heart and blood vessel disease begins early in childhood, the school is uniquely suited to initiate positive action through its health education program. It not only has access to young people when they are most receptive to learning, but also before the irreversible effects of the disease have occurred.

Fitch and Blue (1982) and Immarino et al. (1980) agree that cardiovascular disease education can occur almost any place in society. They, however, feel that schools are the most important environment for this education because they provide a captive audience of children and can assure that an organized program will be delivered. Biles (1982), Bellardini et al. (1982), McAlister (1981), Janis (1980), Rash and Pigg (1979) and Schaller (1977) all support health education programs in the schools.

Janis (1980:360) stated, "Schools are where the children are -- a fact that makes them logically ideal for the introduction of preventative health care concepts and preventive health services". Of further importance is the fact that the school is the most logical place to bring together health professionals, parents,

and administrators concerned with improving child health. Schaller (1977) feels that the school provides the optimal environment for cardiovascular education. He further believes that "the basis for having a good health program is that if the child is not in a state of good health, he or she will not be able to learn effectively (Schaller, 1977:394). McAlister (1981) feels that health education has been neglected in the public schools, adding that health courses are often taught by athletic instructors who actually know little about health or how to teach it. He strongly recommends that health education be incorporated into the curriculum and that teachers receive special training to teach health education.

McAlister (1981) and Rash and Pigg (1979) also believe that the child's school environment can positively impact his health behavior(s). For example, "a carefully planned school lunch program combined with the elimination of candy machines may do more to provide prudent eating habits than a semester of nutrition education" (McAlister, 1981:29). He further added that improved facilities and more opportunities for athletics could lead some students to choosing physical fitness to augment their social involvement and enjoyment. "The role of the school in health education is more than mere teaching of facts. It involves making environmental changes in the schools to influence health behavior through the basic skills of self management and decision making" (McAlister, 1982:29).

Bellardini et al. (1982) agree with McAlister regarding using the school environment to encourage positive health habits in children. They believe that teaching can be accomplished through role modeling and environmental engineering. Examples of role modeling include: adults and teachers avoiding smoking, practicing sound nutritional habits and exercising regularly. The school can offer an environment conducive to health by offering physical exercise opportunities at least three times a week, nutritionally balanced, low fat lunches, a curriculum stressing individual growth and positive outlets for stress.

Biles (1982), Bellardini et al. (1982) and Rash and Pigg (1979) all stress the importance for elementary schools to address the cardiovascular disease problem in the United States. They strongly support restructuring the elementary school health education curriculum so that it centers around the basics of cardiovascular health. According to Bellardini et al. (1982:12) "It is best to begin with children who are basically healthy and impress on them that they must take the responsibility for their own health and that healthy habits established early will serve them for a lifetime". Biles (1982) added that the unique role of the public school is to provide cardiovascular health education to all children, but that it is crucial to begin this education at the elementary level before individual habits and values have been established. She feels, however, that cardiovascular health

education is important to everyone, and encourages children to share their knowledge with parents and other family members. In this way, health education programs have an effect on the total community.

Kreuter and Christenson (1981) specify that school health educators, unlike patient health educators, are faced with the problem of linking health education activities to future behaviors. They state that the goal of school education is "to guide children towards optimal and lasting acquisition of healthful practices and to enable them to make sensible decisions when they face new situations for which they have not been prepared" (Kreuter and Christenson, 1981:49). In addition they feel that "school health education programs should be aimed at enhancing children's perceived value of health as well as reinforcing their internal locus of control" (Kreuter and Christenson, 1981:52).

### Health Education

Current definitions of health are usually vague and nonspecific. They very often depend on the individual, group, or
condition under which the definition is applied. Therefore the
concept of health education likewise tends to be vague and nonspecific (Balog, 1981). "... the laws concerning health instruction are few, often ambiguous, and even mandates are largely
left to local option for enforcement (National Professional
School Health Education Organization, 1984:4).

Balog (1981) stated that it would be convenient to offer a more discriminating concept of health. He believed that such a definition would more specifically identify the role of health education and the health educator. "The rationale for health education rests on the premise that the educated individual will make appropriate lifestyle decisions which will be beneficial to health" (Schoenberger, 1982:15).

Kreuter et al. (1983) indicated that they are satisfied that growing evidence demonstrates an association between education and the practice of health-enhancing behavior. They are sufficient to justify a commitment for health education in the schools.

Health education in the school setting is planned and carried out to maintain, reinforce or enhance health. It should, therefore, do what education has been designed to do. The objectives of health education should be to impart knowledge for the purpose of developing the powers of reason and judgment to help people make their own healthful decisions. Specifically, health education should disseminate information concerning what life habits promote the well functioning of the body and mind and encourage the advancement of self-rule and self-care (Balog, 1981; Kolbe, 1982; National Professional School Health Education Organization, 1984).

Schoenberger (1982) identified several reasons for health education for children as well as adults. He stated that the

risk factors in adults are, in all likelihood, risk factors for the young as well. Potentially dangerous conditions may be present for many years before they manifest. Schoenberger's second reason is that adults are usually resistant to changes in longstanding life habits. Surely it is easier never to have begun those habits deterious to one's health. The final reason is that the atherosclerotic process is probably reversible up to the point of scarring of the blood vessel wall. Intervention after a heart attack is less likely to be of value than early in the disease process or prior to disease onset.

The importance of health education is gaining support as

Americans are becoming increasingly concerned about the rising

cost of health care and resulting decreased accessibility to health

care for the poor and medically naive (Dignan and Sheard, 1981).

In the future, Americans will assume increased responsibility for their own health. "This responsibility will be focused on changes in personal behaviors which are associated with promotion of one's health and prevention of diseases most prevalent in our society" (Alderman, 1980:22).

Health education is not a passive experience. The individual plays an active role in which he makes choices and takes actions which are instrumental in affecting the status of his/her wellbeing (Alderman, 1980).

## Nurse's Role in Health Promotion

In <u>Healthy People</u> (1979:119) the surgeon general reported that health promotion begins with people who are basically "healthy". The practice of health promotion seeks to develop community and individual measures to help them adopt lifestyles that will "maintain and enhance" that state of well-being. The report goes on to say that beginning in early childhood and throughout our lives we make choices that affect our current and future health status. These decisions are most often made without the person having contact with health professionals and without thought to personal future health implications.

Health promotion has long been identified as a major role of the community health nurse. Health promotion programs and activities include various forms of health education, demonstrations of health practices, and efforts to provide a greater number of health-promoting options for the client, family or community (Spradley, 1981:15).

Johnson and Parsons (1984:193) stated that regardless of the health care setting, the nurse has increasing responsibilities to restore or promote health. They too identify the community health nurse's special responsibilities to actively be involved in promoting wellness for community residents.

The concept of nurses promoting health in the community is not a new one.

"America's first public health nurses knew that the community settlement houses, clinics, and homes were the natural settings for the practice of nursing. Sickness and hospitalization were, for most individuals, temporary infrequent experiences that required the skilled services of nursing specialist. Yet, even nurses practicing in hospitals vicariously entered the homes and lifestyles of patients to teach wellness and disease prevention" (Johnson and Parsons, 1984:193).

Moore and Williamson (1984) stated that nursing responds to societal trends in an effort to meet the perceived health needs of the culture in which it exists. They identify the relationship between health status/behavior and lifestyle choices - those choices individuals make that impact on future health status.

Moore and Williamson believed that nurses must begin to formulate their own ideas about health promotion and identify aspects of application in their own practice. They go on to say that health promotion practices are applicable whether the nurse is working with individuals, families, or communities as client. Moore and Williamson believed that behavior and lifestyle choices of individuals directly affect health status.

Grasser and Craft (1984) stated that health care is a participatory process that includes both the provider and the recipient.

Nurses must more actively involve themselves in health promotion activities. The health promotion activities must be designed and implemented for individuals of all age groups. Grasser and

Craft identify sites most often utilized for health promotion such as schools, work sites, community centers, or communication channels such as radio or television. Professional nurses must be ready and willing to meet the individuals wherever they are, not wait passively for them to seek assistance once they are already ill.

### Summary

Atherosclerotic heart disease has been identified as a disease with devastating implications. It is most often considered a disease of the elderly, but recent research has indicated that precursors of the disease exist long before symptoms manifest.

Research has also indicated that the incidence and severity of heart disease can be reduced through variations in an individuals lifestyle.

Society is currently burdened with increasing health care costs. It is projected that, in the future, it will be necessary for individuals to assume greater responsibility for promotion and maintenance of their own health status.

The school is an ideal site for providing heart health education due to its regular contact with children. The school is also the most logical place to bring together health professionals, parents, teachers, and administrators who are concerned with improving children's health status, now and in the future.

#### CHAPTER III

#### **METHODOLOGY**

### Selection of Sample

The setting for this study was a public elementary school located in Southeastern Virginia. It serves children from five to eleven years of age and grades kindergarten through five. A public school was chosen to obtain a sample more reflective of the general population.

The study population consisted of 119 students divided into two study groups - experimental and control. All subjects were fifth grade students in the participating school. The subjects were of normal or higher intelligence as judged by available school records. Subjects comprising the experimental group were exposed to the testing and educational program during the last weeks of the school year. Those comprising the control group were exposed to the testing and educational program during the first half of the following school year. By that time, the subjects comprising the experimental group had advanced to the middle school - decreasing the probability of subject contamination.

The 63 subjects in the experimental group consisted of 27 males and 36 females and the control group totaled 56 subjects,

30 males and 26 females. Fifty-four percent of the experimental group were black and 46 percent were white. Sixty-two and one half percent of the control group were black and 37.5 percent were white. The age range for both groups was ten to 13 years. The mean age for the experimental group was 10.86 years; the mean age for the control group was 10.38 years. Tables 1 and 2 depict this demographic data.

Table 1
Sex and Race Distribution of Subjects by Study Group

| Study                 |        | Sex  |       | Race  |       |       |  |
|-----------------------|--------|------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|
| Groups                | Female | Male | Total | Black | White | Total |  |
| Experimental<br>Group | 36     | 27   | 63    | 34    | 29    | 63    |  |
| Control<br>Group      | 26     | 30   | 56    | 35    | 21    | 56    |  |
| Total                 | 62     | 57   | 119   | 69    | 50    | 119   |  |

Table 2

Age Distribution of Subjects by Study Group

| Age in<br>Years | Experimental<br>Group | Control<br>Group | Total<br>Subjects |  |
|-----------------|-----------------------|------------------|-------------------|--|
| 10              | 23                    | 38               | 61                |  |
| 11              | 27                    | 16               | 53                |  |
| 12              | 12                    | 1                | 13                |  |
| 13              | 1                     | 1                | 2                 |  |

# Selection of Instrument

A thorough review of the literature revealed that although a variety of tools were available to measure knowledge of cardio-vascular disease risk factors, there were none that measured health behaviors of children who had been taught the cardiovascular disease risk factors. It was therefore necessary to develop an instrument, "My Health Behaviors", to measure health behaviors of the subjects (Appendix A). The instrument developed was in the form of a questionnaire that was used as a "pretest" and a "post-test". The questions related to behaviors directly associated with content taught during the eight week educational program.

### Reliability and Validity

Reliability was determined by the test-retest method. The questionnaire was administered to twelve girl scouts (Troop 537) and was repeated two weeks later. A Pearson r correlation was calculated and the result was 0.6. Face validity was determined by having two experts in the field of nursing and one expert in the field of elementary education review the questionnaire. The nursing experts examined the questions for appropriateness of health practices and the elementary education expert examined the questions for appropriateness for fifth grade level students.

### Scoring

The tool was scored by giving a minus one for every behavior that was linked to a negative heart health behavior (such as: high fat, high cholesterol foods, smoking or lack of exercise).

A positive one was given for every behavior that could be linked to a heart healthy behavior (such as: eating foods low in fat or cholesterol, getting physical exercise, or not smoking). All negative and positive scores were added together to obtain the total score. The highest possible score was sixty-nine, indicating the most positive health behaviors and the lowest possible score was negative forty-six, indicating the most negative health behaviors. For the purpose of analysis, the differences between the pretest and post-test scores were used.

### Data Collection

The principal at the designated school was contacted by mail and an appointment scheduled with him to discuss the study (Appendix B). Permission to collect data at the designated school was obtained from the principal (Appendix C). He in turn obtained permission from the county school board for the study to be conducted in his school. Permission to participate in the study was obtained from each subject's parents. The purpose of the study was explained and confidentiality was assured. The parents and subjects were told that the information gained would be used in this research study only, and would in no way affect the subjects' status in school. The parents were informed that the subjects could withdraw from the study at any time. Opportunity was provided for the parents to call the researchers and ask any questions they might have before the study was begun. Those parents agreeing to allow their child to participate in the study signed an informed consent (Appendix D [Experimental Group] and Appendix E [Control Group]). One copy of the informed consent was returned to the school and the parents kept one copy. One hundred percent of the parents of both groups consented to allow their child to participate in the study.

The experimental group received a total of eight 45 minute sessions (Appendix F). The introductory and summary sessions were

primarily concerned with administering the pretest and post-test.

Sessions two through seven were informative sessions devoted to the three major cardiovascular risk factors (high fat, high cholesterol diet, smoking and sedentary lifestyle). A combination of didactic presentation along with a variety of student activities and audio-visual aids were used to convey the material.

The control group received a total of four 45 minute sessions (Appendix G). After giving permission for the study, the county school board offered a mandatory drug abuse program for all fifth grade students. The principal and fifth grade teachers agreed that they could not afford an additional eight sessions that deviated from the routine reading, English, math and science activities. They did allow four sessions for the program and requested specific content related to general principles of nutrition and foods high in salt and sugar. The introductory session was primarily concerned with administration of the pretest, sessions two and three were devoted to the nutrition content requested by the teachers, and session four was comprised of a review session, administration of the post-test, and presentation of program certificates.

The children were eager to be involved in the study. The majority of the subjects in both groups were active participants during the sessions as evidenced by the questions asked and by bringing information from magazines, home experiences and other

readings to class for discussion. Greater than fifty percent of the participants in the experimental group brought in at least one food label or cigarette advertisement for discussion. Both the experimental and control subjects were encouraged to share their knowledge with their families in hopes that the sessions would benefit a given segment of the community. All material obtained from the American Heart Association and other sources was age relevant. Table 3 presents the topical outline for the sessions by group.

Table 3

Comparison of Session Content for Experimental and Control Groups

|             | Experimental                             | Control                    |
|-------------|--|----------------------------|
| Session 1 - | Introduction<br>Pretest                  | Introduction<br>Pretest    |
| Session 2 - | Cardiovascular<br>Anatomy and Physiology | Basic 4 Food Groups        |
| Session 3 - | High Fat, High<br>Cholesterol Diet       | Foods High in Salt & Sugar |
| Session 4 - | High Fat, High<br>Cholesterol Diet       | Summary/Post-test          |
| Session 5 - | Smoking                                  |                            |
| Session 6 - | Exercise                                 |                            |
| Session 7 - | Exercise                                 |                            |
| Session 8 - | Summary/Post-test                        |                            |

#### CHAPTER IV

#### Analysis of Data

### Introduction

The purpose of this study was to determine if a selected group of school age children would modify their health behaviors after having participated in a four and one-half hour cardio-vascular education program. The stated hypothesis was tested using the student's paired-sample t-test. The t-test is "the basic parametric procedure used for testing differences in group means" (Polit and Hungler, 1983:511). A probability of p<0.05 was accepted.

#### Hypothesis:

There will be a statistically significant improvement in self-reported health behaviors of school age children who receive a cardiovascular risk factor education program as compared to the self-reported health behaviors of those school age children who do not receive a cardiovascular risk factor education program.

There was a significant difference found between the selfreported health behavior of school age children who received the cardiovascular education program as compared to those who did not (t=2.55, p<0.01). (Table 4). The hypothesis was supported. The range in scores (difference between pretest and post-test scores) for the experimental group was -13 to 21, with a mean score of 2.857. The range of test scores for the control group was -19 to 14, with a mean score of -0.714.

Table 4

Comparison of Test Scores Between Experimental and Control Groups

| Study Groups       | N  | x      | S.D. | <u>t</u> | df  | P   |
|--------------------|----|--------|------|----------|-----|-----|
| Experimental Group | 63 | 2.857  | 7.43 | 2 55     | 118 | .01 |
| Control Group      | 56 | -0.714 | 7.83 | 2.55     |     |     |

In addition, a sample variance was completed to compare the similarities of the experimental and control groups. The sample variance for the experimental group was 55.22 and for the control group was 61.30. Thus, the two groups were comparable.

### Discussion

The findings of this investigation support the findings of several other studies related to educating children about cardio-vascular disease and risk factors. Many of these studies have demonstrated increases in the subjects' knowledge of cardiovascular diseases and risks. "Project Superheart" (Way, 1981) demonstrated that children who received heart health education scored higher on

knowledge tests than children who did not. The "Cardiovascular School Health Curriculum" (Holcomb et al., 1984) also demonstrated significant gains in knowledge of cardiovascular disease and risk factors in children who participated in the cardiovascular health curriculum as compared to those who did not. The "Chicago Heart Health Curriculum" Program (Stone, 1985) and "Project Panther" (Kittleson and Ragon, 1985) evaluations measured knowledge and attitudes of the participants, and indicated positive changes in the study subjects' knowledge and health attitudes. Even though the Tuck-Williams research study did not measure knowledge, the researchers believe that the self-reported changes in health behavior occurred as a result of learning that had been internalized as a result of the cardiovascular education program.

The researchers did not have the opportunity to observe children in the school setting, but asked the teachers to share any observation. The teachers reported they noticed more children were selecting lower fat foods during and after the data collection period than before the children became involved in the cardiovascular education program. The teachers did not comment on any noticeable changes in physical activity in the experimental group children. The teachers also commented that the children in the experimental group were more aware of and concerned about their health and their heart(s) and continued to bring food labels and articles to school for discussion.

An interesting observation made by the researchers during the process of data collection was the experimental group subjects' overall concern for their parents' heart health behaviors. Many shared their concerns about their parents' smoking, diet, and exercise habits and asked for advice and literature that they could share with their parents. The researchers also noted that both boys and girls asked questions and participated in class activities and discussions.

The researchers did notice a difference between the experimental and control groups regarding the subjects' willingness to listen and the topics brought up for class discussion during the teaching sessions. The experimental group appeared to be more concerned about their health habits and wanted to learn more about how to take care of themselves. The researchers feel that one possible reason for this difference is that the experimental group were aware that the teaching sessions related to their heart and circulatory system, which they perceived as keeping them alive and healthy. The control group did not have the benefit of seeing how their teaching sessions related to any specific organ or system of the body.

Even though the hypothesis for this study was supported and the findings of this investigation confirm the findings of the cited research studies, questions remain. Among these are: Would the results be the same if a different grade level had been used?

Did the experimental group improve their health behaviors because of actual knowledge that was gained or simply as a result of the contact with the researchers?

Could it be that the control group did not improve their health behaviors because of its more limited contact with the researchers?

A limitation of this study rests with the unequal allotment of contact time between the experimental and control groups. The answers to these questions could be sought by replicating the study, with different grade levels and with equal contact time for both the experimental and control groups.

#### CHAPTER V

Summary, Conclusions, Implications and Recommendations

### Summary and Conclusions

This study, using a quasi-experimental design, was conducted to explore the effect of a cardiovascular risk factor education program on the health behaviors of a group of fifth grade children.

The following hypothesis was tested:

There will be a statistically significant improvement in self-reported health behaviors of school age children who receive a cardiovascular risk factor education program as compared to the self-reported health behaviors of those school age children who do not receive a cardiovascular risk factor education program.

One hundred and nineteen subjects, 63 in the experimental group and 56 in the control group, were tested using the researcher's designed health behavior questionnaire. "My Health Behaviors", before and after participation in the health education program. The program provided for the experimental group consisted of eight 45 minute sessions. The introductory and summary sessions were primarily concerned with administration of the pretest and post-test and sessions two through seven were informative sessions about high fat, high cholesterol diet, smoking and sedentary lifestyle. The program

provided for the control group consisted of four 45 minute sessions; session one was concerned with introductory material and administration of the pretest, sessions two and three were informative sessions related to general nutrition and foods high in salt and sugar, and session four was devoted to review of content as well as administration of the post-test.

Data were statistically analyzed using the paired-sample student's  $\underline{t}$ -test. Results of the analysis revealed a significant difference between the two sample groups at  $\underline{p} \leq 0.01$  level. The hypothesis was accepted.

### Conclusions

There was a significant difference between the self-reported health behaviors of the school age children who received the cardio-vascular risk factor education as compared to those who did not.

### Implications

Findings from this study indicate that children do benefit from nursing interventions aimed at educating them about their heart and their heart health behaviors. In addition to changing their own health behaviors, several of the children shared the information with their parents, thus allowing for an extended effect on the family's heart health behaviors. Children are able to take care of their heart, and assume positive heart health

practices. The school and school health nurse are excellent resources to provide children with heart health knowledge.

### Recommendations for Further Study

#### It is recommended that:

- 1. This study be replicated:
  - a. using equal contact time between experimental and control groups.
  - b. using a larger sample.
  - c. using a different age group to determine if age is a variable to be considered.
  - d. comparing health behaviors between different ethnic groups to determine if ethnocentricity is an intervening variable.
  - e. using a sample of children and their parents to note the effect that parental involvement would have on the health behaviors of the sample subjects.
- 2. A longitudinal study be done with post-testing conducted over a three year period, at 12 month intervals, to investigate the long term effects of the cardiovascular risk factor education program.

#### References

- Alderman, M. Kay, "Self-Responsibility in Health Care/Promotion Motivational Factors", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 50, No. 1, January 1980, 22-25.
- Allendorff, Sibylle, Albert J. Sunseri, John Cullinan, Joan K. Oman, "Student Heart Health Knowledge, Smoking Attitudes, and Self-Esteem", Journal of School Health, Vol. 55, No. 5, May 1985, 196-199.
- American Heart Association, About Your Heart and Diet, National Center, Dallas, Texas, 1985.
- American Heart Association, Cigarette Smoking and Cardiovascular Diseases, National Center, Dallas, Texas, 1985.
- American Heart Association, About Your Heart and Exercise, National Center, Dallas, Texas, 1985.
- American Heart Association, Putting Your Heart into the Curriculum Intermediate Level Grades: Three-Five, National Center, Dallas, Texas, 1983.
- Andrews, Richard and Jill T. Hearne, "Effects of Primary Grades Health Curriculum Project on Student and Parent Smoking Attitudes and Behavior", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 54, No. 1, January 1984, 18-20.
- Andreoli, Kathleen G., Virginia Hunn Fowkes, Douglas P. Zipes,
  Andrew G. Wallace, Comprehensive Cardiac Care, Fourth Ed.,
  C. V. Mosby Company, St. Louis, 1979, 11-12.
- Bailey, William J., "Ten Smoking Education Programs for Schools", Journal of School Health, Vol. 55, No. 1, January 1985, 33-34.
- Balog, Joseph E., "The Concept of Health and the Role of Health Education", Journal of School Health, Vol. 51, No. 9, September 1981, 461-464.
- Baranowski, Tom, "Methodologic Issues in Self-Report of Health Behavior", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 55, No. 5, May 1985, 179-182.

- Bellardini, Harry, Gary Cashin, Lucy Stroble, Joyce Way, "Project Superheart - Year One", <u>Health Education</u>, Vol. 11, No. 4, July/August 1980, 11-13.
- Bernstein, Linda R., Donna Bellorado, William Bruvold, "Evaluation of a Heart Health Education Curriculum for Preschoolers, Parents, and Teachers", <u>Health Education</u>, Vol. 17, No. 4, June-July 1986, 14-17.
- Biles, Fay R., "Why Cardiovascular Health Education in the Schools From an Educational Perspective", Health Education, Vol. 13, No. 1, January/February 1982, 17-18.
- Birch, David A., "Helping Students Understand the Circulatory System", <u>Health Education</u>, Vol. 13, No. 1, January-February 1982, 59.
- Blazek, B. and M. McClellan, "The Effects of Self-Care Instruction on Locus of Control in Children", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 53, No. 9, November 1983, 554-556.
- Blomquist, Kathleen Beckman, "Modeling and Health Behavior: Strategies for Prevention in the Schools", <u>Health Education</u>, Vol. 17, No. 3, June-July 1986, 8-10.
- Blumenthal, Sidney, Mary Jane Jesse, Charles Hennekens, Barbara Klein, Pedro Ferrer, Janet Gourley, "Risk Factors for Coronary Artery Disease in Children of Affected Families", The Journal of Pediatrics, Vol. 87, No. 6, December 1975, 1187-1192.
- Bode, Paula, Carla G. Cran, Arden G. Christen, "Smoking Sam Goes to School", Journal of School Health, Vol. 50, No. 11, November 1980, 510-513.
- Botvin, Gilbert J. and Anna Eng, "A Comprehensive School-Based Smoking Prevention Program", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 50, No. 4, April 1980, 209-213.
- Boyer, John L., "Coronary Heart Disease as a Pediatric Problem-Prevention Through Behavior Modification", The American Journal of Cardiology, Vol. 33, May 20, 1974, 784-786.
- Brooks, Charles, Margaret Kirkpatrick, Daniel J. Howard, "Evaluation of An Activity-Centered Health Curriculum Using the Health Belief Model", Journal of School Health, Vol. 51, No. 10, October 1981, 565-569.

- Bruess, Clint and Susan J. Laing, "Promotion of Health Education Programs", <u>Health Education</u>, Vol. 14, No. 2, March-April 1983, 26-30.
- Bullock, Barbara L. and Pearl Philbrook Rosendahl. Pathophysiology. Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 1984, Unit 8.
- Burdine, James N., Meei Shia Chen, Nell H. Gottlieb, Fred L. Peterson, T. Demetri Vacalis, "The Effects of Ethnicity, Sex, and Father's Occupation on Heart Health Knowledge and Nutrition Behavior of School Age Children: The Texas Youth Survey", Journal of School Health, Vol. 54, No. 2, February 1984, 87-90.
- Cardiovascular Disorders, Nurse's Clinical Library, Nursing 84
  Books, Springhouse, Penn.: Springhouse Corporation, 1984,
  Ch. 6.
- Chameides, Leon, "From a Medical Perspective-Where Do We Go From Here?", <u>Health Education</u>, Vol. 13, No. 1, January/February 1982, 34-35.
- Chinn, Peggy, Child Health Maintenance, C. V. Mosby and Company, 2nd ed., 1979, 161.
- Coates, Thomas, Robert Jeffery, Lee Ann Slinkard, "Heart Healthy Eating and Exercise: Introducing and Maintaining Changes in Health Behaviors", American Journal of Public Health, Vol. 71, No. 1, 1981, 15-23.
- Cook, Donald E., "Statement of the Committee on School Health of the American Academy of Pediatrics", <u>Pediatrics</u>, Vol. 62, No. 7, July 1, 1978, 117.
- Creswell, William H., Jr., "Why Cardiovascular Health Education Research in the Schools", <u>Health Education</u>, Vol. 13, No. 1, January/February 1982, 24-25.
- Crow, Thomas A., Ric Brown, E. Janesse Hubbard, Lee R. Copeland, "Assessing Potential Predisposition of Elementary School Children to Heart Disease", Journal of School Health, Vol. 52, No. 10, December 1982, 601-604.
- Dignan, Patricia and Joan Sheard, "The Fourth "R": Responsible Health", Journal of School Health, Vol. 51, No. 8, October 1981, 570-571.

- Drash, Allen, "Atherosclerosis, Cholesterol, and the Pediatrician", The Journal of Pediatrics, Vol. 80, No. 4, April 1972, 693-696.
- Duryea, E. and Martin, G., "The Distortion Effect in Student Perceptions of Smoking Prevalence", Journal of School Health, Vol. 51, No. 2, February 1981, 115-118.
- Duncan, Burris, W. Boyce, R. Stami, N. Puffienbarger, "A Controlled Trial of a Physical Fitness Program for Fifth Grade Students", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 53, No. 8, October 1983, 467-471.
- Enos, William F., Capt. James C. Beyer, Robert H. Holmes, "Pathogenesis of Coronary Disease in American Soldiers Killed in Korea", <u>Journal of American Medical Association</u>, Vol. 158, No. 11, July 16, 1955, 912-914.
- Evans, R., R. Rozelle, M. Mittlemark, W. Hansen, A. Dane, J. Havis, "Detering the Onset of Smoking in Children: Knowledge of Immediate Physiological Effects and Coping with Peer Pressure, Media Pressure, and Parent Modeling", Journal of Applied Social Psychology, Vol. 8, 1978, 126-135.
- Fitch, James A. and Beverly Blue, "From an Educational Perspective New Approaches to Cardiovascular and Other Chronic Diseases Suggest a Bright Future for School and Community Health Education", Health Education, Vol. 13, No. 1, January/February 1982, 35-36.
- George, Julia B. (editor). Nursing Theories: The Base for Professional Nursing Practice, second edition, Englewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall, Inc., 1985, 124-137.
- Grasser, Carol and Betty Jean Goggin Craft, "The Patient's Approach to Wellness", The Nursing Clinics of North America, Vol. 19, No. 2, June 1984, 207-218.
- Green, Lawrence W., "Answering The Question Does Health Education Work?", Journal of School Health, Vol. 49, No. 1, January 1979, 55.
- Harrison, Donald C. and Mary Winston, "Cardiovascular Risk Reduction The Problems Facing Our Society", Health Education, Vol. 13, No. 1, January/February 1982, 9-12.
- Healthy People: The Surgeon General's Report on Health Promotion

  and Disease Prevention, U.S. Department of Health, Education,
  and Welfare, 1979.

- "Heart Facts, 1987", Dallas, Texas: American Heart Association, 1987.
- Holcomb, J. David, Joseph P. Carbonari, Ralph W. Ingersoll, Wilbur M. Luce, Jo Nelson, "The Long Term Impact of a Cardiovascular School Health Curriculum", <u>Health Education</u>, Vol. 15, No. 6, October/November 1984, 19-23.
- Holcomb, J. David, Joseph Carbonari, Armin Weinberg, Jo Nelson, "Evaluation of a Comprehensive Cardiovascular Curriculum", Journal of School Health, Vol. 51, No. 5, May 1981, 330-335.
- Holcomb, J. David, Joseph Carbonari, Jo Nelson, Lee Wylie, "The Evaluation of a Cardiovascular School Health Curriculum: An Assessment of Long-Term Cognitive Retention and Attitudinal Correlates", Journal of School Health, Vol. 53, No. 6, August 1982, 378-382.
- Holcomb, J. David, Jo Nelson, Joseph Carbonari, Ralph Ingersoll, Robert Chamberlain, Wilbur Lace, Armin Weinberg, "Integrating Cardiovascular Health Education with English Curriculum in a Secondary School", Journal of School Health, Vol. 54, No. 9, October 1984, 339-342.
- Holman, R. L., "Atherosclerosis a pediatric nutrition problem?",

  American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, Vol. 9, September

  1961. 565-569.
- Hovell, M., J. Bursick, and R. Sharkey, "An Evaluation of Elementary Students' Voluntary Physical Activity During Recess, Research Quarterly, Vol. 49, 1978, 460-474.
- Hurd, P., C. Johnson, T. Pechacek, L. Bast, D. Jacobs, R. Luepker, "Prevention of Cigarette Smoking in Seventh Grade Students", Journal of Behavioral Medicine, Vol. 3, 1980, 15-28.
- Immarino, Nicholas K., Armin D. Weinberg, J. David Holcomb, "The State of School Health Education: A Review of the Literature", Health Education Quarterly, Vol. 7, No. 4, Winter 1980, 298-320.
- Iverson, D. and L. Kolbe, "Evolution of the National Disease Prevention and Health Promotion Strategy: Establishing a Role for the Schools", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 53, No. 5, May 1983, 294-302.
- Janis, Juel M., "The Schools' Role in the Promotion of Child and Community Health", Education and Urban Society, Vol. 16, No. 3, May 1984, 360-374.

- Jaycox, Sharon, Tom Baranowski, Philip Nudar, Rosalind Dworkin, Nathalie Vanderpool, "Theory-based Health Education Activities for Third to Sixth Grade Children", Journal of School Health, Vol. 53, No. 10, December 1983, 584-588.
- Johnson, Jane and Margaret Parsons, "Symposium on Health Promotion, Forward", The Nursing Clinics of North America, Vol. 19, No. 2, June 1984, 193-194.
- Kaluger, George and Meriem Fair Kaluger, Human Development The Span of Life. St. Louis: C. V. Mosby Company, 1974, 160-166.
- Kannel, William B., Daniel McGee, Tavia Gordon, "A General Cardio-vascular Risk Profile: The Framingham Study", American Journal of Cardiology, Vol. 38, No. 1, July 1976, 46-51.
- Kannel, William B. and Thomas R. Dawber, "Atherosclerosis as a Pediatric Problem", <u>The Journal of Pediatrics</u>, Vol. 80, No. 4, April 1972, 544-554.
- Kittleson, Mark J. and Bruce M. Ragon, "Project Panther", Health Education, Vol. 15, No. 7, December 1984/January 1985, 16-17.
- Kolbe, Lloyd J., "What Can We Expect From School Health Education", Journal of School Health, Vol. 52, No. 3, March 1982, 145-150.
- Kolbe, Lloyd J. and Ian M. Newman, "The Role of School Health Education in Preventing Heart, Lung, and Blood Diseases", Journal of School Health, Vol. 54, No. 6, September 1983, 15-26.
- Kreuter, Marshall W. and Gregory M. Christenson, "School Health Education: Does It Cause an Effect?", Health Education Quarterly, Vol. 8, No. 1, Spring 1981, 43-55.
  - Kreuter, Marshall, Gregory M. Christenson, Roy Davis, "School Health Education Research: Future Issues and Challenges", School Health Research, Vol. 54, No. 6, September 1983, 27-32.
  - Lauer, Ronald, William Connor, Paul Leaverton, Mary Ann Reiter, William Clarke, "Coronary Heart Disease Risk Factors in School Children: The Muscatine Study", The Journal of Pediatrics, Vol. 86, No. 5, May 1975, 697-706.
  - Lawrenz, Frances P., "An Evaluation of a Fourth Grade Cardiovascular Health Program", Health Education, Vol. 16, No. 1, February/March 1985, 33-35.

- Lewis, Charles E. and Mary Ann Lewis, "Childrens' Health-Related Decision Making", <u>Health Education Quarterly</u>, Vol. 9, No. 2 & 3, Summer 1982, 129-225.
- Maier, Henry W., Three Theories of Child Development, Third Edition, New York: Harper and Row Publishers, 1978.
- Martin, Gary L. and Ian M. Newman, "Randomized Response: A Technique for Improving the Validity of Self-Reported Health Behaviors", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 52, No. 4, April 1982, 222-226.
- McAllister, Alfred, "Social and Environmental Influences on Health Behavior", <u>Health Education Quarterly</u>, Vol. 8, No. 1, Spring 1981, 25-31.
- McAllister, A., C. Perry, J. Killeen, C. Slinkard, M. Telch, N. Macoby, "Pilot Study of Smoking, Alcohol and Drug Abuse Prevention", American Journal of Public Health, Vol. 70, No. 7, July 1980, 719-721.
- McNamara, J., M. Molot, J. Stremple, et al., "Coronary Artery Disease in Combat Casualties in Vietnam", <u>Journal of American</u> Medical Association, Vol. 216, 1971, 1185-1187.
- Moller, James H., "Cardiovascular Risk Reduction the Problems Facing the School Age Population", Health Education, Vol. 13, No. 1, January/February 1982, 13-14.
- Moore, Pamela V., and Geraldine C. Williamson, "Health Promotion: Evolution of a Concept", The Nursing Clinics of North America, Vol. 19, No. 2, June 1984, 195-206.
- Nadar, P., T. Baranowski, N. Vanderpool, K. Dunn, R. Dworkin, L. Ray, "The Family Health Project: Cardiovascular Risk Reduction Education for Children and Parents", <u>Development and Behavioral Pediatrics</u>, Vol. 4, No. 1, January 1983, 3-10.
- National Professional School Health Education Organization, "Comprehensive School Health Education", Health Education, Vol. 15, No. 6, October/November 1984, 4-7.
- Nolte, A., B. Smith, T. O'Rourke, "The Relative Importance of Parental Attitudes and Behavior Upon Youth Smoking Behavior", Journal of School Health, Vol. 53, No. 4, April 1983, 264-271.

- Nursing '80 Books, Combatting Cardiovascular Diseases Skillfully, Intermed Communication, Inc.: Horsham, Penna., 1980, 76-78.
- Orem, Dorothea, Nursing: Concepts of Practice, Second Ed., McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1980, 154.
- O'Rourke, Thomas, Becky J. Smith, Ann E. Nolte, "Health Risk Attitudes, Beliefs and Behaviors of Students Grades 7-12",

  Journal of School Health, Vol. 54, No. 5, May 1984, 210-214.
- O'Rourke, Thomas, Ann E. Nolte, Becky J. Smith, "Improving Anti-Smoking Education: Profiling the Ex-Smoker", <u>Journal of Drug</u> Education, Vol. 15, No. 1, 1985, 9-21.
- Owen, Donald B. <u>Handbook of Statistical Tables</u>. Reading, Mass.: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, 1962.
- Parcel, Guy S., "Theoretical Models for Application in School Health Education Research", Journal of School Health, Vol. 54, No. 6, joint issue with Health Education, Vol. 15, No. 4. September 15-16, 1983, 39-49.
- Parcel, Guy S. and Tom Barankowski, "Social Learning Theory and Health Education", Health Education, Vol. 12, No. 3, May/ June 1981, 14-18.
- Parker, Frank C., Janet B. Croft, Josie D. Supik, Larry S. Webber, Saundra MacD. Hunter, Gerald S. Berenson, "Participation in a Cardiovascular Risk Factor Assessment Program", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 56, No. 1, January 1986, 23-27.
- Perry, Cheryl L., Knut-Inge Klepp, Andrew Halper, Ken G. Hawkins, David M. Murray, "A Process Evaluation Study of Peer Leaders in Health Education", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 56, No. 2, February 1986, 62-67.
  - Petosa, Rick, "Enhancing the Health Competence of School-age Children Through Behavioral Self-Management Skills", Journal of School Health, Vol. 56, No. 6, June 1986, 211-214.
  - Porter, Carol S., "Grade School Children's Perceptions of Their Internal Body Parts", Nursing Research, Vol. 23, No. 5, September/October 1974, 384-391.
  - Polit, Denise and Bernadette Hungler. Nursing Research Principles and Methods, Second edition. Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott Company, 1983.

- Rash, J. Keogh and Morgan R. Pigg, The Health Education Curriculum. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1979.
- Rotter, Julian B. <u>Clinical Psychology</u>. New Jersey: Prentice Hall, Inc., 1964.
- Rotter, Julian B., Social Learning and Clinical Psychology. New Jersey: Prentice Hall, Inc., 1954.
- Rustia, Janice, "Rustia School Health Promotion Model", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 52, No. 2, February 1982, 108-114.
- Schaller, W. E., "Positioning School Health as a National Priority", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 47, No. 7, September 1977, 393-394.
- Schinke, S. and Gilchrist, L., "Primary Prevention of Tobacco Smoking", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 53, No. 7, September 1983, 416-419.
- Schoenberger, James A., "Why Cardiovascular Health Education in the Schools - From a Medical Perspective", Health Education, Vol. 13, No. 1, January/February 1982, 15-16.
- Shute, Robert, Richard W. St. Pierre, Elise Grosswald Lubell, "Smoking Awareness and Practices of Urban Pre-School and First Grade Children", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 51, No. 5, May 1981, 347-351.
- Singleton, Nan and Dianne S. Rhoads, "Meal and Snacking Patterns of Students", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 52, No. 9, November 1982, <u>529-533</u>.
- Spradley, Barbara W., editor, Contemporary Community Health, Second Edition. Boston, Mass.: Little, Brown and Company, Inc., 1981.
- Spratlen, Lois Price, "Nurse-Role Dimensions of a School-Based Hypertension Screening, Education and Follow-Up Program", The Journal of School Health, Vol. 52, No. 3, March 1982.
- Stone, Elaine J., "School-Based Health Research Funded by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute", Journal of School Health, Vol. 55, No. 5, May 1985, 168-173.

- Strong, William B., "Is Atherosclerosis a Pediatric Problem?", Medical Times, Vol. 104, No. 1, January 1976, 65-75.
- Sunseri, Albert, Jean Alberti, Nancie Kent, James Schoenberger,
  Therese Dolecek, "Ingredients in Nutrition Education: Family
  Involvement, Reading, and Race", Journal of School Health,
  Vol. 54, No. 5, 1984, 193-196.
- Sunseri, A., J. Alberti, N. Kent, J. Schoenberger, J. Sunseri, S. Amuwo, P. Vickers, "Reading, Demographic, Social and Psychological Factors Related to Pre-Adolescent Smoking and Non-Smoking Behaviors and Attitudes", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 53, No. 4, April 1983, 257-263.
- Terhune, James, "Teaching Skills for Healthy Lifestyles", Health Education, Vol. 17, No. 2, February-March 1986, 4-7.
- Thompson, June M., Gertrude K. McFarland, Jane E. Hirsch, Susan M. Tucker, Arden C. Bowers, Clinical Nursing. St. Louis: The C. V. Mosby Company, 1986, 34-36.
- Tubor, Mary, Child Development. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1981, 507-510.
- Valanis, Barbara, Epidemiology in Nursing and Health Care, Appleton-Century-Croft, 1986.
- Walter, Heather J. and Patricia A. Connelly, "Screening for Risk Factors as a Component of a Chronic Disease Prevention Program for Youth", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 55, No. 5, May 1985, 183-187.
- Watts, Parris, "The Whole Person Concept as part of the Elementary School Health Education Program", The Journal of School Health, Vol. 52, No. 5, May 1982, 286-290.
- Way, Joyce W., "Project Superheart: An Evaluation of a Heart Disease Intervention Program for Children", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 51, No. 1, January 1981, 16-19.
- Weinburg, Armin, Joseph Carbonari, and Larry Laufman, "What High School Students Don't Know About Cardiovascular Disease", Journal of School Health, Vol. 55, No. 5, May 1985, 112-117.

- Williams, C. L., B. J. Carter, C. B. Arnold and E. L. Wynder,
  "Chronic Disease Risk Factors Among Children. The 'Know
  Your Body' Study", <u>Journal of Chronic Disease</u>, Vol. 32, 1979,
  505-513.
- Wolfgang, James and Darwin Dennison, "The Effects of a Heart Health Education Workshop", <u>Journal of School Health</u>, Vol. 51, No. 5, May 1981, 356-359.
- Wolfgang, James and Darwin Dennison, "An Investigation of Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors in an Adolescent Population", Journal of School Health, Vol. 52, No. 4, April 1982, 218-221.

### APPENDIX A

"MY HEALTH BEHAVIORS"

# "My Health Behaviors"

1. List the 3 foods that you usually eat for snacks.

|    | 1            |                            |                |
|----|--------------|----------------------------|----------------|
|    |              |                            |                |
|    | 3            |                            |                |
| 2. |              | ls that you ate yesterday. |                |
|    | Bacon        | Tuna Fish                  | Fried Chicken  |
|    | Sausage      | Fried Fish                 | Baked Chicken  |
|    | Hot Dogs     | Baked Fish                 | Barbeque Ribs  |
|    | Bologna      | Fish Sticks                | Roast Beef     |
|    | Hamburger    | Ham                        | Scrambled Eggs |
|    | Fried Eggs   | Poached Eggs               | Boiled Eggs    |
|    | Pancakes     | Spaghetti                  | Green Beans    |
|    | Waffles      | Macaroni & Cheese          | Corn           |
|    | Toast/Bread  | Whipped Potatoes           | Peas           |
|    | Hot Cereal   | French Fries               | Greens         |
|    | Cold Cereal  | Baked Potatoes             | Lettuce        |
|    | Apple        | Fried Potatoes             | Sweet Potatoes |
|    | Orange       | Rice                       | Milk           |
|    | Banana       | Fruit Juice                | Soda           |
|    | Strawberries | Fruit Cocktail             | Tea            |
|    | Peaches      | Peanut Butter              | Snack Cakes    |
|    | Pears        | Jelly                      | Ice Cream      |
|    | Grapes       | Peanuts                    | Pie            |
|    |              | Candy Bar                  | Potato Chips   |
|    |              | Pretzels                   | Popcorn        |
|    |              |                            |                |

Corn Chips

| For e | each p | air c              | of food                 | ds below | check the  | food   | you eat                     | most. |
|-------|--------|--------------------|-------------------------|----------|------------|--------|-----------------------------|-------|
| a.    |        | _                  | ken<br>r<br>ourgers     | s        | f          |        | ried chi<br>or<br>oaked chi |       |
| b.    |        |                    | h frui<br>or<br>ly      | it       | g• _       |        | outter<br>or<br>margarine   | e e   |
| с.    |        | _                  | dog<br>or<br>fish       |          | h          |        | vegetable<br>or<br>lesserts | es    |
| d.    |        | c                  | ed pota<br>or<br>ich fr |          | i          |        | nam<br>or<br>chicken        |       |
| e.    |        | eggs<br>or<br>cere | :                       |          |            |        |                             |       |
| What  | do yo  | u usu              | ally                    | do after | you get ho | me fro | om school                   | L?    |

5. Circle the best answer that describes you.

3.

4.

- a. I never exercise except in gym class.
- b. I exercise once in a while, but not regularly.
- c. I exercise 1 or 2 times a week for at least 15 minutes (non-stop).
- d. I exercise at least 3 times a week for at least 20 minutes each time (non-stop).

| 6.   | For each set of activities                                 | below, check which you do most. |
|--|--|---------------------------------|
|  | a watch TV   | d play video games              |
|  | ride bike  | or<br>play tag                  |
|  | b read   | e play in your room             |
|  | or<br>walk   | or<br>play outside              |
|  | c play ball  |                                 |
|  | or play board game   | •                               |
| _  |  |                                 |
| 7. Circle the best answer that describes smoking and you.          |  |                                 |
|  | a. I've never smoked a cigarette.                          |                                 |
|  | b. I've only smoked part of one cigarette.                 |                                 |
|  | c. I've only smoked a few times.                           |                                 |
|  | d. I used to smoke at least once a week, but I quit.       |                                 |
|  | e. I now smoke.  |                                 |
| 8. If you don't smoke now, do you plan to smoke as an adult?       |  |                                 |
|  |  |                                 |
|  | Yes  | No                              |
| 9.   | 9. What do you think is the best way to keep from smoking? |                                 |
|  | a. Avoid smokers all the time.                             |                                 |
|  | b. Yell at people who try to make you smoke.               |                                 |
|  | c. Say NO! when someone offers you a cigarette.            |                                 |
| d. Walk away whenever someone lights up a cigarette.               |  |                                 |
| 10. List three things that you do to help keep your heart healthy. |  |                                 |
|  |  |                                 |
|  | 1.<br>2.   |                                 |
|  | 3.   |                                 |
| Thank you for answering these questions.                           |  |                                 |

#### APPENDIX B

LETTERS REQUESTING PERMISSION FOR PARTICIPATION IN 'HEALTH BEHAVIORS' PROJECT

April 22, 1986

Mr. Jeff Beatman, Principal

Dear Mr. Beatman:

We are Mrs. Sharon Williams and Mrs. Terry Tuck, graduate students in nursing at Virginia Commonwealth University. To meet the thesis requirement for a Masters of Science in Community Health Nursing, we are proposing to conduct a study entitled, "The Effects of a Cardiovascular Risk Factor Education Program on Health Behaviors of Selected School Age Children".

We would like to meet with you to discuss our plans for the project in detail and to request your permission to conduct the study at your school with volunteer subjects drawn from your fifth grade classes. Briefly, we propose to provide a series of eight classes on cardiovascular risk factors (high fat, high cholesterol diet, smoking and lack of exercise) and positive heart health and to assess the children's health behaviors utilizing a pre and post test. Parental consent will be sought only if you approve our project and allow us to conduct the study in your school.

A copy of the teaching program is enclosed for perusal prior to our meeting. Any suggestions for implementation of the study will be welcome and results of the study will be shared with you and your teaching staff.

Thank you for considering our request. We will contact you next week to schedule an appointment to further discuss our project.

Sincerely,

(Mrs.) Sharon Williams

(Mrs.) Terry Tuck

April 30, 1986

Mr. Jeff Beatman, Principal

#### Dear Mr. Beatman:

We are Mrs. Sharon Williams and Mrs. Terry Tuck, graduate students in nursing at Virginia Commonwealth University. To meet the thesis requirement for a Masters of Science in Community Health Nursing, we are proposing to conduct a study entitled, "The Effects of a Cardiovascular Risk Factor Education Program on Health Behaviors of Selected School Age Children".

We would like to meet with you to discuss our plans for the project in detail and to request your permission to conduct the study at your school with volunteer subjects drawn from your fifth grade classes to serve as our control group. Briefly, we propose to provide a series of eight classes on general health information, (Basic Four Food Groups, Foods High in Salt and Sugar, Simple First Aid, Stress and Relaxation, and Home Safety) and to assess the children's health behaviors utilizing a pre and post test. Parental consent will be sought only if you approve our project and allow us to conduct the study in your school.

A copy of the teaching program is enclosed for perusal prior to our meeting. Any suggestions for implementation of the study will be welcome and results of the study will be shared with you and your teaching staff.

Thank you for considering our request. We will contact you next week to schedule an appointment to further discuss our project.

Sincerely,

(Mrs.) Sharon Williams

(Mrs.) Terry Tuck

APPENDIX C

AGENCY CONSENT

JEFFREY S. BEATMAN
PRINCIPAL
ETTRICK ELEMENTARY
20901 CHESTERFIELD AVE
ETTRICK, VA 23803

APRIL 21, 1986



DEAR MS. TUCK AND WILLIAMS:

THIS LETTER IS TO LET YOU KNOW THAT THE HEART PROGRAM HAS BEEN APPROVED BY DR. ORGAN. OUR PLANS ARE FOR THE PROGRAM TO BE HELD ON MONDAYS AND THURSDAYS FROM 2:00-2:45. THE FIRST MEETING WILL BE ON MONDAY, APRIL 28 IN THE CAFETERIA. EACH MONDAY'S MEETING WILL BE IN THE CAFETERIA WITH ALL 3 GROUPS. EACH THURSDAY'S MEETING WILL BE IN MRS. HUNTER'S AND MRS. EGGLESTON'S ROOM AND WE WILL SPLIT THE 3 CLASSES INTO 2 GROUPS.

ENCLOSED YOU WILL FIND THE LIST OF FIFTH GRADE STUDENTS. WE ARE LOOKING FORWARD TO WORKING WITH YOU!!

JEFFREY S. BEATMAN

CC. Dr. Organ

### APPENDIX D

INFORMED CONSENT FOR EXPERIMENTAL GROUP

#### Informed Consent

We are Mrs. Terry Tuck and Mrs. Sharon Williams, graduate students in nursing at Virginia Commonwealth University. As part of our program, we are conducting a study to investigate whether teaching children about factors which reduce the risk of developing heart disease will improve health behaviors. Children who participate in this study will be taught helpful heart health information that could help them live longer, healthier lives. This health study program has been approved by the principal and fifth grade teachers at your child's school.

If you agree to let your child participate in the study program, he/she will:

- 1. complete a fact sheet asking his/her age, sex, and race.
- complete a written questionnaire about his/her current health behaviors like: what foods he/she likes to eat and what games/sports he/she likes to play.
- 3. attend eight (8), 45 minute classes and receive instruction about: a) heart healthy foods, b) the dangers of smoking and c) the benefits of regular exercise. These classes will be taught at your child's school during regular school hours.
- complete a written questionnaire about his/her health behaviors when the eight classes are over.

Participation in this health program is voluntary and whether or not you allow your child to participate in the study program will in no way affect his/her academic grade or standing in school. Neither will attendance in the health classes harm your child in any way. You may withdraw your child from the study program at any time if you like by contacting us through our faculty advisor whose name and telephone number are noted at the bottom of this form. No child will be identified by name in any report about the study program. Only group information will be reported.

If you have any questions about this study program, please contact us at the school tomorrow, \_\_\_\_\_ by telephoning us at 526-6800 between 8:30 a.m. and 4:00 p.m.

If you agree to allow your child to participate in the study program, keep one copy of this consent form for your records and have your child return the second copy, WITH YOUR SIGNATURE to his teacher (school).

Thank you for considering this request.

I have read the above information about the heart health study program being presented at my child's school and I agree to have my child participate in the program.

Parent's Signature

Child's Name

If you decide to withdraw your child from the program, please contact us through:

Dr. M. Olgas Associate Professor of Nursing Telephone Number

# APPENDIX E INFORMED CONSENT FOR CONTROL GROUP

#### Informed Consent

We are Mrs. Terry Tuck and Mrs. Sharon Williams, graduate students in nursing at Virginia Commonwealth University. As part of our program, we are conducting a study to investigate whether teaching children factors about healthy lifestyles will improve their health habits. This health study program has been approved by the principal and fifth grade teachers at your child's school.

If you agree to let your child participate in the study program, he/she will:

- 1. complete a fact sheet asking his/her age, sex, and race.
- complete a written questionnaire about his/her current health behaviors like: what foods he/she likes to eat and what games/sports he/she likes to play.
- 3. attend four (4), one hour classes and receive instruction about: a) the four basic food groups, b) foods high in salt and sugar. These classes will be taught at your child's school during regular school hours.
- 4. complete a written questionnaire about his/her health behaviors when the four classes are over.

Participation in this health program is voluntary and whether or not you allow your child to participate in the study program will in no way affect his/her academic grade or standing in school. Neither will attendance in the health classes harm your child in any way. You may withdraw your child from the study program at any time if you like by contacting us through our faculty advisor whose name and telephone number are noted at the bottom of this form. No child will be identified by name in any report about the study program. Only group information will be reported.

If you have any questions about this study program, please contact us at the school tomorrow, \_\_\_\_\_\_ by telephoning us at 526-6800 between 8:30 a.m. and 4:00 p.m.

If you agree to allow your child to participate in the study program, keep one copy of this consent form for your records and have your child return the second copy, <u>WITH YOUR SIGNATURE</u> to his teacher (school).

Thank you for considering this request.

I have read the above information about the heart health study program being presented at my child's school and I agree to have my child participate in the program.

Parent's Signature

Child's Name

If you decide to withdraw your child from the program, please contact us through:

Dr. M. Olgas Associate Professor of Nursing Telephone Number:

## APPENDIX F TOPICAL OUTLINE FOR EXPERIMENTAL GROUP

#### Cardiovascular Risk Factor Education Program

#### Experimental Group Sessions

#### Session 1 - Introduction

- Pretest.
- Explanation of the total program.
- Introduction of the program instructors.
- Question and answers.

#### Session 2 - Review of Anatomy and Physiology

- Review of heart, blood vessel, and lung anatomy.
- Explanation of cholesterol and how it affects the blood vessels.
- Introduce the three major risk factors to be discussed high fat, high cholesterol diet, smoking, and lack of regular exercise.

#### Session 3 - Diet

- Focus on high fat and high cholesterol foods.
- Have children identify which foods from display are high fat and low fat foods.
- Have children assist instructors in preparation of a low fat food snack.

#### Session 4 - Diet

- Introduce reading food labels and discuss how to identify high fat foods.
- Have children practice reading and interpreting sample food labels.
- Give children exercise to do at home (label high fat foods and read five food labels of foods at home).
- Identify several healthy, low fat snacks for children.
- Discuss the importance of making healthy food choices.
- Enjoy another healthy, low fat snack.

#### Session 5 - Smoking

- Review how smoking affects the heart and blood vessels.
- Discuss reasons why people should avoid smoking.
- Discuss ways to stop and/or avoid smoking.
  (Audio-visual aid from American Heart Association)

#### Session 6 - Exercise

- Explain how regular exercise strengthens heart and prevents cardiovascular disease.
- Discuss various aerobic exercises that will help the heart. (Audio-visual aid from American Heart Association)
- Remind children to come dressed for exercise for the next session.

#### Session 7 - Exercise

- Have children participate in an aerobic exercise workout.
- Enjoy a healthy, low fat snack.

#### Session 8 - Summary

- Post-test.
- Review of sessions.
- Presentation of program certificates.
- Healthy, low fat refreshments.

### APPENDIX G TOPICAL OUTLINE FOR CONTROL GROUP

#### Topical Outline (Control Group)

#### Session I - Introduction

- Introduction of program instructors
- Explanation of the total program
- Questions and answers
- Pretest

#### Session II - Basic 4 Food Groups

- Explain the basic 4 food groups
- Discuss the number of servings per group per day
- Identify foods in each group
- Discuss importance of eating a balanced diet
- Have children plan a menu for one day

#### Session III - Foods High in Salt and Sugar

- Explain importance of discussing foods high in salt and sugar
- Discuss how salt and sugar affect the body
- Have children identify foods that are high in salt and high in sugar
- Enjoy low sugar and low salt snacks

#### Session IV - Summary

- Post-test
- Review of sessions
- Presentation of program certificates
- Refreshments

VITA



VITA

